IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CP-00477 STEVE LACROIX APPELLANT

٧.

MARSHALL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS et al APPELLEE

DATE OF JUDGMENT: 02/20/08

TRIAL JUDGE: SPECIAL CHANCELLOR, HON. JOHN A. HATCHER

COURT FROM WHICH APPEALED: MARSHALL COUNTY CHANCERY COURT

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT: PRO SE

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE:

KENT E. SMITH (

JUSTIN S. CLUCK

SMITH WHALEY, PLLC

P.O. BOX 849

HOLLY SPRINGS, MS 38635

662-252-3003

NATURE OF THE CASE: CIVIL, CONSTITUTIONAL, US 42 1983

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

STEVE LACROIX, PRO SE 384 RIVER RIDGE CIRCLE BYHALIA, MISSISSIPPI 38611 662-838-5412

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Trial Court erred as a matter of law, when against the weight of the evidence, it denied and dismissed with prejudice LaCroix's claim under U.S. 42 Section 1983 and under Miss. Code Annotated §19-5-22, holding that administrative review under Miss. Code Annotated §11-51-75 is the proper form of redress for violations of State law and Due Process guaranteed by the Constitutions.
- II. Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law holding that Miss.

 Code Annotated §19-5-22 permits collection of ad valorem tax or fees to fund garbage collection from a tenant who pays those costs as a portion of his or her rental agreement.
- III. Should pro se Plaintiff have been permitted to introduce evidence not previously available to him in support of his violation of Open Meetings claim before final judgment was entered and his claim dismissed with prejudice.
- IV. Where each parties duties were set out in a sufficiently specific and unambiguous manner as to constitute a clear command, did the trial court abuse it's discretion by failing to objectively consider the frivolous nature of Defendant's Motion for Contempt against LaCroix and to assess sanctions against Defendant and their attorney pursuant to Rule 11 and the Litigation Accountability Act for filing a frivolous motion.
- V. Did the trial court abuse it's discretion when it created an exception to the Public Records Act by condoning the Defendant's refusal to permit an inspection of public records simply because it might be inconvenient for the public body to comply.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- ¶1. LaCroix and his wife own five (5) homes in Marshall County, Mississippi. One is LaCroix's residence and 4 are residential rentals. All tax records, building records and other official records maintained by Marshall County show the LaCroixs as the legal owners and the persons responsible for payment of taxes on these properties, including the ad valorem tax assessed monthly for funding garbage collection. All tenants of the rental properties, pursuant to their written rental agreements pay LaCroix, as a portion of their rent, the monthly fee for garbage collections. (Exhibit No. 13, Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment-Rental Agreement). All monthly bills for garbage collection are sent, or should be sent, to LaCroix, at his residence with LaCroix paying the monthly bills for the five (5) addresses receiving garbage collection services.
- ¶2. On July 25, 2007, one of LaCroix's tenants, Francisco Leal, who rented the residence at 374 River Ridge Circle, informed LaCroix that earlier that day he attempted to renew his car tags at the Marshall County tax collectors office and was not permitted to do so. Leal was informed by the tax collector he owed delinquent fees for garbage collection and was referred to the office of County Administrator where he was told by employees of the Board of Supervisors that he owed \$141.40 in delinquent fees for garbage collection for 372 River Ridge Circle. Leal was then told if he wanted to renew his car tags he had to pay that amount, in cash.
- ¶3. Intimidated by the Board's employees and ignorant of his legal rights, Leal paid the amount demanded by the Board's employees so he could obtain his car tags. Not having enough cash after paying the amount demanded, Leal drove to the LaCroix residence to get reimbursed so he would have the funds to renew his car tags the following day.
- ¶4. On July 25, 2007 the rental property at 372 River Ridge Circle was and still is rented to Augustin Olvera, not Francisco Leal. Leal was, on July 25, 2007, a tenant at 374 River Ridge Circle.
- ¶5. LaCroix made three (3) Public Records requests pursuant to M.C.A.§ 25-61-2. LaCroix requested information that would support the actions of the Board and its employees including records evidencing how the account was established in Leal's

name; an accounting for the amount paid by Leal; notes and records evidencing the County's collection attempt(s) and attempt(s) to contact LaCroix and a copy of the due process notice sent to LaCroix pursuant to §19-5-22 prior to the final action of the Board of Supervisors or its employees.

- ¶6. LaCroix's Public Records requests were summarily denied by the Board of Supervisors, the Chancery Court Clerk, County Administrator and his employees, the Planning Commission, it's employees and the attorney for the Board of Supervisors. With the exception of copying final minutes of Board meetings, corresponding audio recordings and some handwritten notes used to compile the final minutes of those meetings, LaCroix was denied access to public records that would evidence the Board of Supervisors guilt and failure to comply with M.C.A. §19-5-22 and the Constitutional Due Process requirement.
- ¶7. LaCroix obtained final minutes and audio recordings of the meetings of the Marshall County Board of Supervisors for a period of approximately two years which revealed numerous, inveterate abuses of the Open Meetings Act by the members of the Board of Supervisors, the Chancery Court Clerk defendant Thomas and the County Comptroller, defendant Hill.
- ¶8. Having been denied inspection of public records requests and uncovering evidence of violations of the Open Meetings Act, LaCroix filed a cause in Chancery Court as required by the Public Records Act and Open Meetings Act. Pursuant to reasonableness and economy; to avoid a charge of claim splitting and pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution ¹, LaCroix included in his suit, a claim for a violation of substantive and procedural due process under M.C.A. §19-5-22 and U.S. § 1983 for a violation of due process. See *Felder V. Casey*, 487 U.S. 131 (1988).
- ¶9. Following discovery LaCroix filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on all claims. (See Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment.)

¹ One aspect of the Supremacy Clause obliges state judges to follow the law of the Constitution at the trial level even if there is a conflicting state law. In short, the U.S. Constitution trumps state law.

Defendants responded with a Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment. (See Tab 1 of LaCroix's Addendum) On January 14, 2008, the trial court faxed all parties its
Corrected Opinion and Partial Summary Judgment. The trial court opined the collection from LaCroix's tenant "is not inconsistent with Miss. Code Ann. 19-5-22";
"Moreover, Section 19-5-22(4)(b) directs that an appeal from payment of delinquent garbage collection fees should be made pursuant to Section 11-51-75." (Corrected Opinion & Partial Summary Judgment, page 7, (D)(2)) Thus, the court denied LaCroix's Section 1983 and Miss. Section 19-5-22 claims and granted judgment in favor of Defendants. LaCroix was denied Summary Judgment on the Open Meetings violations, the trial court stated only "that there is insufficient evidence to show a violation of the Open Meetings Act." (Corrected Opinion and Partial Summary Judgment, page 8, line 1)

- ¶10. Upon entry of the trial courts Opinion and Partial Summary Judgment, LaCroix filed a Rule 60 Motion to Reconsider by serving a copy to the Chancellor in Tupelo, Miss., the Attorney for the Defendants and filing it with the Marshall County Chancery Court Clerk. LaCroix's Motion to Reconsider proffered evidence in support of the Open Meetings Claims that was not available to LaCroix when he filed his Motion for Summary Judgment. LaCroix proffered to the court that "evidence received subsequent to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment will prove beyond doubt that Defendants are in violation of the Open Meetings" (LaCroix's Motion to Reconsider, Page 24, Paragraph 3).
- ¶11. New evidence furnished by Defendants as supplemental discovery includes handwritten notes compiled at Board meetings and audio recordings of Board meetings, which evidence the Board going into executive sessions to discuss public business, not for permissible reasons enumerated in the Open Meetings Act.

 Additional final minutes furnished that correspond to the new evidence, make numerous omissions and do not reflect the actual topics of discussion but are nonetheless certified by the Board Clerk as true and correct. (See Tab 2 of Plaintiff's Addendum)
- ¶12. On 2-01-08, in chambers prior to the commencement of the trial, the Chancellor summarized what would be tried in open court. LaCroix's Motion to

Reconsider was not on the agenda. The Chancellor stated he did not receive it and was unaware that a Motion to Reconsider had been filed. The Chancellor informed LaCroix that he would rule on the Motion to Reconsider from the bench, during the trial.

- ¶13. The trial ended without the Chancellor making a ruling on LaCroix's Motion to Reconsider. LaCroix for a second time re-urged his Motion, whereupon the Chancellor summarily denied same without providing findings of fact, conclusion of law or providing any reason for denying the Motion to Reconsider.
- ¶14. At trial, a Bench Order was issued mandatorily enjoining all defendants to produce to LaCroix all of the Public Records he was previously denied. The Public Records were enumerated in the Bench Order and ordered to be provided to LaCroix no later than fourteen (14) days from February 1, 2008 and whether the Chancellor had the Order signed in writing or not.
- ¶15. February 14, 2008 Defendants filed a Motion for Protective Order seeking to exempt the public records ordered to be produced by the Court. (Tab 3 of Plaintiff's Addendum) Defendants claimed records used to notify the tax collector to charge a lien against a property are exempt pursuant to the Public Records Act. Defendants also claimed part of the records are maintained by a 3rd party, RES, Inc., Marshall County's garbage vendor, and thus exempt. Defendants further sought an exemption under 18 U.S.C. §2721, The Drivers Privacy Act which expressly permits the records to be disclosed and states in relevant part:

Uses described in (b)(4) expressly permits those records to be disclosed for the following reason: For use in connection with any civil, criminal, administrative, or arbitral proceeding in any Federal, State, or local court or agency or before any self-regulatory body, including the service of process, investigation in anticipation of litigation, and the execution or enforcement of judgments and orders, or pursuant to an order of a Federal, State, or local court.

¶16. Not receiving all public records as Ordered by the Court, on February 17, 2008, LaCroix filed a Motion for Contempt. (Tab 4 LaCroix's Addendum). Additionally LaCroix was billed a substantial amount for producing records not ordered to be produced and a \$50.00 per hour fee for Defendants attorney's fees which does not

comport with the Public Records Act or Defendants Public Records policy. (See Tab 5 to LaCroix's Addendum-Invoice; See Exhibit 24 to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment - Marshall County Public Records Fee Schedule)

- ¶17. February 20, 2008 a final Judgment was served to both parties by the Chancellor via a fax. The Judgment ordered LaCroix to pay Defendants the amount of \$206.00 for the production of the records enumerated in the Bench Order of the court. LaCroix was ordered to pay the amount within two (2) weeks. (See Mandatory Record Excerpts). At no time prior to the final Judgment was LaCroix ordered to pay a specific amount, by a date certain. LaCroix paid the amount Ordered to the Chancery Court on 3-3-08, within the time allotted to pay. (See Tab 6 of LaCroix's Addendum).
- ¶18. On 2/22/08, Defendants filed a Motion for Contempt against LaCroix. (Tab 7, Def. Motion for Contempt) Defendants charged that LaCroix "willfully denied payment to Defendants". The Bench Order did not specify any amount and or due date by which LaCroix was to pay. The court instructed LaCroix to pay, "if it's a reasonable bill within compliance with the Public Records Act." (Bench Order Page 3, line 7-10) Furthermore, Defendants and their attorney had been served with the final judgment just two days prior to filing their Motion for Contempt and reasonably should have known there was no contempt by LaCroix.
- ¶19. On 02/25/08 LaCroix filed a Rule 52 Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, asking that LaCroix be relieved from paying the unauthorized and erroneous amount billed for Defendants attorney's fees and costs for producing irrelevant records. The bill for producing Public Records (Tab 5 LaCroix's Addendum) was substantially for copying documents and records not ordered produced by the trial court nor requested by LaCroix. \$210.00 of the \$353.00 bill consisted of attorney fees charged by the Board's attorney, Kent Smith, allegedly for the attorney gathering copies to send to LaCroix, pursuant to the court's order. (See Tab 8, LaCroix's Addendum)
- ¶20. March 14, 2008 a hearing was held on post judgment Motions filed by both parties. Following the motion hearing, the Court's Order was entered on 3/24/08. It was the Order of the Court, because defendants could not produce a copy of their pre-deprivation notice sent to LaCroix, defendants did not provide LaCroix with any due process notice as required by §19-5-22. (Mandatory Excerpts). The Court further

Ordered Defendants to refund \$126.50 of the erroneous amount LaCroix paid for Defendants and their attorney's bill for production of Public records. The final Order dismissed all other motions, including Defendants Motion for Contempt filed against LaCroix. It was the opinion of the court that Defendants Motion for Contempt was harmless error that was corrected in open court and was not "without any possibility of success". ²

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- ¶21. Two of the three issues raised herein are matters of important public interest. The due process claim pursuant to Miss. Code Ann.§ 19-5-22 and the Constitutions is an issue of first impression and its decision will be of significant precedential value having effect on all residents of the state of Mississippi that are assessed an ad valorem tax or charged a fee for funding the collection of garbage by the County. The ancillary violations of the Open Meetings Act is also a matter of great import to all citizens of Mississippi and the ruling of this Court will be of significant precedential value by grounding the legislative intent of the Act.
- ¶22. In 1997 the United States District Court, N.D. Mississippi, Eastern Division ruled in <u>Laudermilk v. Fordice</u>, Civil Action No.1:95cv161-D-D that parts of Miss. Code Ann. §19-5-22 were unconstitutional as written and applied because it did not provide a taxpayer with a notice that complies with the due process requirements of the Mississippi and Federal Constitutions. The District Court ruled that Mississippi residents were entitled to a pre-deprivation hearing, as matter of due process, in connection with collection of ad valorem taxes funding garbage collection.
- ¶23. Following <u>Laudermilk</u>, in 1997 the Regular Session of the Mississippi Legislature (Chapter No. 423; H.B. No. 1605) amended section §19-5-22, to bring the

² The Court held further that its inquiry into whether a party had any hope of success is an objective one "to be exercised from the vantage point of a reasonable party in (litigant's) position as it filed and pursued its claim." Tricon Metals & Services, Inc. v. Topp, 537 So. 2d 1335 (Miss. 1989)

statute into compliance with the Federal and State Constitution's due process requirements. As amended, in relevant part, the statute states: "any person who pays, as a part of a rental or lease agreement, an amount for garbage or rubbish collection or disposal services shall not be held liable upon the failure of the property owner to pay those fees" and "the county shall mail a notice of the lien, including the amount of unpaid fees and a description of the property subject to the lien, to the owner of the property".

- ¶24. It is, therefore, the intent of the Mississippi Legislature that before depriving a person of property and or rights that they be afforded minimum due process that complies with the Mississippi and U.S. Constitutions by mailing notice to the property owner affording an opportunity for a due process hearing; and no tenant of a rental property shall be held liable for garbage collection fees if the fee is paid as a part of his or her monthly rent. Marshall County, Mississippi utilizes a policy that contradicts the Legislative intent, Section 14 of the Mississippi Constitution and the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.
- ¶25. On October 22, 2001 The Marshall County Board of Supervisors entered an Order in the final Minutes which states in full: "The Board of Supervisors make the landowners in Marshall County, Mississippi, the ultimate responsible party for garbage collection fees." There is a logical and reasonable inference and presumption that the Board's Order stands for identifying the owner of the property in the event it is necessary for the Board or its employees to take final action for unpaid ad valorem tax for garbage collections. Contrary to the Order of the Board, this is not how the Board of Supervisors enforce the statutory imperatives of garbage tax collections pursuant to §19-5-22. (See Ex. 5 to LaCroix's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment)
- ¶26. Pragmatically, the Order of the Board is a sham and is at best, ostensible rather than practical because the Board's policy does not take into proper consideration the law relating to the enforcement of garbage fees pursuant to §19-5-22 and the Constitutions. Following the rationale of the Laudermilk ruling by the Northern District Court, the procedure used by Marshall County Board of Supervisors to collect ad valorem taxes for garbage collection is likewise unconstitutional. Based upon

available public records and documentation, or more appropriately, the lack of records and documentation, the Marshall County Board of Supervisors use an arbitrary and capricious unwritten policy for enforcing collections of delinquent ad valorem tax which is unfettered by the notice and hearing requirements mandated by Miss. Code Annotated §19-5-22 and the Constitutions.

- ¶27. It is the position of the Marshall County Board of Supervisors that it was the duty of LaCroix, the property owner to request a hearing after the Board and its employees took final action because in defendant's analysis §19-5-22 "does not state that a hearing is automatic but is just available". Factually, this conclusion is correct, a hearing is not "automatic", however, §19-5-22 does mandatorily require the Board of Supervisors to provide the property owner with a notice providing an opportunity for a hearing prior to taking final action.
- ¶28. The Boards policy is characterized by clear abuse of discretion. The procedure used by the board and it's employees consists of nothing more than arbitrarily flagging by highlighting with a marker a name and address on the State's car tag renewal form ³ for a tax lien and then returning the form to the County's tax collector. The tax collector in turn imposes a tag lien and refuses to issue tags to anyone that might be associated with the address "flagged" by the county. (Tab 9 of LaCroix's Addendum)
- ¶29. A tag lien is enforced against anyone whose name or address has been highlighted on the list regardless of whether that person is the property owner, a tenant, that pays garbage fee as a portion of his/her rent or anyone that formerly lived at and registered a vehicle to the subject address but may not have changed their address with the Department of Motor Vehicles.
- ¶30. When an address is flagged, the tax collector will not accept the delinquent fees and issue tags or renewals. Instead the party must travel to the office of the County Administrator and pay in cash the amount claimed to be due before being

³ The form is officially the <u>Mississippi State Tax Commission Motor Vehicle</u> <u>Title/registration Sys County Pre-renewal Registration Edit County: Marshall</u> report which the State send to each county tax collectors monthly to inform them of car tags that will be due for renewal in the following month.

issued car tags/renewal. Arguendo, if the County Administrator's Office is closed, that person may not obtain his or her tags until such time as the Administrators Office is open for business. If a person attempts to renew his or her tags on Friday afternoon when the Administrators Office might be closed they will not have legal use of their vehicle until the office re-opens on Monday, assuming Monday is not a county holiday.

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