IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CP-00477

STEVE LACROIX

APPELLANT

VERSUS

MARSHALL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; EDDIE DIXON; KEITH TAYLOR; WILLIE FLEMON; GEORGE ZINN; RONNIE JOE BENNETT; MARSHALL COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION; CONWAY MOORE; STEVE WILSON; LARRY HALL; KAY BROWNLEE; C. W. "CHUCK" THOMAS; SUSIE HILL AND JOHN DOE 1 THRU 10

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM MARSHALL COUNTY CHANCERY COURT

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

KENT E. SMITH, ESQ.
CATHERINE M. WILLIAMS, ESQ.
SMITH WHALEY, PLLC
POST OFFICE DRAWER 849
HOLLY SPRINGS, MISSISSIPPI 38635
MISSISSIPPI BAR NUMBER 9031
MISSISSIPPI BAR NUMBER 102516

Telephone: 662-252-3003 Facsimile: 662-252-3006

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

Moreover, U.S. Const. Amend. XIV, states in pertinent part, "nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty or property, without due process of law." LaCroix did not state any deprivation of his life, liberty or property. He did allege that Marshall County withheld his tenant's automobile tag until the garbage lien was paid. However, as noted by the Chancellor in his Judgment, the tenant was not made a party to the suit (R.E.9). As such, LaCroix only identified a possible constitutional right of the tenant that may have been violated, and failed to articulate any constitutional right of his own. The Court in Suddith y. University of Southern Mississippi, 977 So.2d 1158, 1170 (Miss.App. 2007), held as follows:

The initial requirement for either a procedural or substantive due process claim is proving that the plaintiff has been deprived by the government of a liberty or property interest; otherwise 'no right to due process can accrue.' *Pruett*, 914 F. Supp. at 137 (citing Moore v. Miss Valley State Univ., 871 F.2d 545, 548(5th Cir. 1985))."

In the instant matter LaCroix never articulated any deprivation of his liberty nor any deprivation of his property interest. LaCroix claims that since he has a business relationship with his tenant that he has established a constitutionally protected property interest. However, LaCroix never put on evidence that the business relationship was damaged as a result of the collection of garbage fees. Also, LaCroix fails to note that in order for this Court to extend constitutional protection to this type of property interest, first LaCroix must establish that his claimed property interest, "rises to the level of a constitutionally protected interest." <u>University of Miss. Med. Ctr. v. Hughes</u>, 765 So.2d 528, 535 (Miss.2000). Also, the United States Supreme Court has required that one claiming a constitutionally protected property interest must show a "legitimate claim of entitlement." <u>Bd. of Regents v. Roth</u>, 408 U.S. 564, 577, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 2709, 33 L.Ed.2d 548, 561 (1972). At no point has LaCroix established that his is a constitutionally protected property interest. As such, the Chancellor was correct in ruling that LaCroix "failed to articulate a Constitutional right which was impinged by the alleged violations or that he suffered any actual damage." (R.136)

LaCroix also cites, <u>Cook v. Bd. of Supervisors of Lowndes County</u>, 571 So.2d 932, 934 (Miss.1990) stating "that where no hearing is held, the action does not necessarily proceed under §11-51-75 at all." LaCroix never requested a hearing regarding this matter. Mississippi Code §19-5-22 simply states, "the board of supervisors shall provide notice of the delinquency to the person who owes the delinquent fees and shall afford an opportunity for a hearing." Due to the failure of LaCroix to request a hearing Marshall County did not enter a decision from which LaCroix could appeal. LaCroix's argument that the Court was wrong to dismiss his § 1983 due process claim for failure to comply with state administrative remedies is also without merit.

LaCroix relies on the opinion issued by the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>Felder v. Casey</u>, 487 U.S. 131, 108 S.Ct. 2302, 101 L.Ed.2d 123, 56 USLW 4689 (1988). The Court in <u>Felder</u>, found that the Wisconsin notice of claim statute was preempted by federal law when dealing with a federal act. However, LaCroix's claims were not dismissed as a result of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. The Trial Court in this matter denied Marshall County's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Give Notice Pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act (R.136). The Court in <u>Felder</u> found,

[T]he notice of claim statute at issue here conflicts in both its purpose and effects with the remedial objectives of §1983, and because its enforcement in such actions will frequently and predictably produce different outcomes in §1983 litigation based solely on whether the claim is asserted in state or federal court, we conclude that the state law is pre-empted when the §1983 action is brought in state court.

Id.at 138. LaCroix herein is attempting to argue that the due process procedures in Mississippi Code § 19-5-22 are analogous to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act and therefore are irrelevant and trumped by the U.S. Constitution. The findings by the <u>Felder</u> Court were specific in referencing only the notice of claim statute. LaCroix's argument is circular and fails in every way.

LaCroix had the opportunity to request a hearing and failed to do so. He now asserts that his failure to request a hearing pursuant to Mississippi Code § 19-5-22 is a violation of his due

process. However, the Chancellor's dismissal of Lacroix's claims for failure to obtain due process in accordance with the statute is correct. LaCroix's argument that requiring him to exhaust all remedies available to him "conflicts with both the purpose and effects of §1983's remedial objectives" is incorrect. 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983, states as follows:

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress, except that in any action brought against a judicial officer for an act or omission taken in such officer's judicial capacity, injunctive relief shall not be granted unless a declaratory decree was violated or declaratory relief was unavailable. For the purposes of this section, any Act of Congress applicable exclusively to the District of Columbia shall be considered to be a statute of the District of Columbia.

LaCroix cannot therefore argue that he was deprived of his rights when he failed to exhaust all remedies made available to him under the statute. LaCroix further cites, Combined Util. Sys.

Revenue Bond v. Gautier Util. Dist. Of Jackson County, 465 So.2d at 1019, to support his statement that "[N]otice of claim rules are not in any sense essential prerequisites to litigation of a Section 1983 claim in State court." However, LaCroix fails to articulate when the Trial Court placed the burden of notice upon him in an effort to bar his §1983 claim. The Chancellor's order that LaCroix first exhaust all remedies available to him under the statute, is not equivalent to requiring Lacroix to provide notice of a claim.

LaCroix also argues that the Trial Court's finding that the proper procedure for him to follow would be to file a Bill of Exceptions, would be contrary the case law established in Lenoir v. Madison County, 641 So.2d 1124, 1132 (Miss.1994), which provided that ad valorem tax matters were to be heard de novo. However, this case is distinguishable from the case at bar. Under Mississippi Code Annotated, § 19-5-22, a lien is placed on real property for failure to pay delinquent garbage fees. In Lenoir, the Plaintiff was assessed taxes by the board of supervisors

and appealed directly to the Circuit Court. In the case at bar, LaCroix was never assessed taxes for failure to pay delinquent garbage bills. Likewise, neither was LaCroix's tenant assessed taxes for failure to pay delinquent garbage bills. LaCroix also failed to further understand the crux of the Court's holding in Lenoir, which stated, "[T]his Court has recognized that a specific statute will control over a general one." Id. at 1129 citing Benoit v. United Companies Mortg. of Miss., 504 So.2d 196 (Miss.1987)." Mississippi Code Annotated § 19-5-22 specifically provides for all appeals to be taken pursuant to Mississippi Code § 11-51-75. However, Marshall County must further reiterate that LaCroix never requested a hearing pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 19-5-22 and therefore no decision was rendered by the board from which he could appeal.

LaCroix also asserts in his appeal *for the first time*, that the person made to pay the delinquent garbage account was not the resident of the subject address. This argument was never made at trial or in any pleadings or counter-affidavits filed by LaCroix. Therefore this point is waived as it was not raised at trial.

The final argument raised by LaCroix is that Marshall County acts without having a written policy and therefore does not operate by any particular guidelines in regards to the collection of unpaid garbage bills. Although this claim is not supported by the record, Marshall County avers that LaCroix failed to establish a garbage account for the subject property, and therefore did not receive bills for that property. As such, would not have received any notices regarding the delinquency of that property's account.

III. MARSHALL COUNTY DID NOT VIOLATE THE OPEN MEETINGS ACT.

Mississippi Code Annotated § 25-41-11 states in pertinent part as follows:

- "(1) Minutes shall be kept of all meetings of a public body, whether in open or executive session, showing the members present and absent; the date, time and place of the meeting; an accurate recording of any final actions taken at such meeting; and a record, by individual member, of any votes taken; and any other information that the public body requests be included or reflected in the minutes. The minutes shall be recorded within a reasonable time not to exceed thirty (30) days after recess or adjournment and shall be open to public inspection during regular business hours.
- (2) Minutes of a meeting conducted by teleconference or video means shall comply with the requirements of Section 25-41-5."

LaCroix incorrectly states that the Open Meetings Act, "requires the board of supervisors to record and keep minutes of executive sessions." The Act does not require minutes to be taken unless an action is taken during executive session, and in order to ensure that the public is fully aware of all actions taken by the Board of Supervisors, take action in open session so that the public can listen and comment. If no actions are taken in executive session, no minutes are recorded.

LaCroix further states that the Trial Court erred in denying his Motion to Reconsider

Opinion and Partial Summary Judgment and Other Relief (R. 145). However, Rule 60 of the

Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure states in pertinent part as follows, "A motion to alter or

amend the judgment shall be filed not later than ten days after the entry of the judgment."

LaCroix, in his Motion to Reconsider, asks that the Trial Court reconsider the Opinion and

Partial Summary Judgment and Other Relief entered on January 10, 2008, but LaCroix did not

file his Motion to Reconsider until January 25, 2008 (R.145). Therefore, the Chancellor in this

matter could not entertain the Motion due to the untimely filing. LaCroix attempts to claim that
this Court's ruling in Owens v. Nasco Intern., Inc., 744 So.2d 772, 773 (Miss.1999), would

dictate that his Motion to Reconsider be heard. However, the issue in that cause was the ability to

appeal an order to the Supreme Court, and did not address Rule 60 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

LaCroix further states that the Mississippi Code Annotated §25-41-15 does not require notice to be filed pursuant to the Tort Claims Act. However, LaCroix fails to note that Mississippi Code Annotated §25-41-15 also does not permit suit to be filed against elected representatives in their individual capacity, only in their official capacity. §25-41-15 states as follows:

"The chancery courts of this state shall have the authority to enforce the provisions of this chapter upon application of any citizen of the state, and shall have the authority to issue injunctions or writs of mandamus to accomplish that purpose. If the court finds that a public body has willfully and knowingly violated the provisions of this chapter, the court may impose a civil penalty upon the public body in a sum not to exceed One Hundred Dollars (\$100.00), plus all reasonable expenses incurred by the person or persons in bringing suit to enforce this chapter."

The remedy offered by §25-41-15 is against the public body and not the individuals who comprise said public body. Also, the penalty is in a sum not to exceed one hundred dollars (\$100.00). LaCroix, in his Complaint, sought damages against the individually named Marshall County and the public entities as follows; "Judgment against each Defendant for those damages authorized by Mississippi statute for which each Defendant is found liable" as well as, "punitive damages in the amount of \$10,000.00 per violation ... to be assessed against each Defendant personally and individually to punish the Defendants for their wrongful conduct" and "statutory fines and penalties as may be imposed in accordance with all regulatory statutes be imposed upon each defendant personally and individually so as not to place the burden upon the public." (R.13). The Mississippi Tort Claims Act provides in pertinent part as follows: "the MTCA provides public employees with absolute, rather than qualified, immunity for most torts, so long as they are committed in the course and scope of employment....." When LaCroix named the members of the public body in their individual capacity (and not in their official capacity), he

became subject to the immunity defenses of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. LaCroix failed to give the proper notice as required by the act and therefore this Court as well as the lower Court lacks jurisdiction to hear these claims as they apply to the individually named Marshall County defendants.

LaCroix's further assertion that Marshall County failed to adequately respond to his Motion for Summary Judgment is also without merit. The party moving for summary judgment has burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of fact exists, while nonmoving party is given benefit of every reasonable doubt. Newell v. Hinton 556 So.2d 1037, 1041 (Miss.1990).

LaCroix's two page Motion for Summary Judgment presented to the Chancellor failed to establish that no issue of genuine material fact existed (R.59). Given the complete lack of evidentiary support provided by LaCroix, he could not meet his burden of proof. "[O]n a motion for summary judgment, the non-moving party's burden of rebuttal arises only after the moving party has satisfied its burden of proving that no genuine issue of material fact exists." Foster v. Noel. 715 So.2d 174, 180 (Miss.1998). Accordingly, the Trial Court correctly denied LaCroix's Motion.

LaCroix also argues that the Chancellor could not have reviewed the file prior to the February 1, 2008 trial date. However, this allegation is not supported by the record and relies on assumption by LaCroix. LaCroix further argues that items furnished by Marshall County indicate that executive sessions are not comprised of the same people each time. This allegation is also not supported by the record. LaCroix also puts forth instances he claims occurred, such as Defendant Taylor changing his vote after entering executive session, that are not a part of the record and therefore should not be considered. LaCroix also claims that FedEx hand delivered his Motion to Reconsider to the Chancellor. The record does not reflect any attempt made by FedEx to deliver said motion and this point is moot.

LaCroix next argues that Marshall County violated the Open Meetings Act by failing to take roll. Marshall County takes note of all present at the beginning of a meeting. This is updated if for some reason a Board Member excuses himself early for other business. It is the assertion of Marshall County that these members present in the beginning of the meeting are the same members present during executive session. Also, the statute does not require that minutes be taken unless action is taken. As such, failing to take minutes of an executive session wherein no action was taken is not a violation of the statute.

LaCroix also argues that his Motion to Reconsider should have been heard by the trial court and that in failing to entertain his motion the Chancellor committed error. However, LaCroix himself noted that the Motion to Reconsider was not given to the Chancellor until the morning of the final hearing. The Motion was not properly filed or noticed in a manner that gave notice to the Chancellor or permitted Marshall County ten days to file a response.

In addition, LaCroix cites, <u>Baldwin County Welcome Center v. Brown</u>, 466 U.S. 147, 104 S.Ct. 1723 (U.S. 1984), as a case which calls for the liberal reading of a *pro se* pleading. However, LaCroix fails to cite the full quote and also fails to credit it from the dissent in the above cited cause. The Full quote from <u>Baldwin County Welcome Center</u> is as follows:

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